### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC00-2025

LOUIS B. GASKIN,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SEVENTH CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

\_\_\_\_\_

DWIGHT M. WELLS
Assistant CCRC
Florida Bar No. 0317136
CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL
COUNSEL-MIDDLE
3801 Corporex Park, Suite 210
Tampa, Florida 33619
(813) 740-3544

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant appeals the circuit court's denial of his motion for post-conviction relief prosecuted pursuant to Rule 3.850, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure. The proceedings in his case will be cited to as follows:

#### STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

### I. Course of Proceedings and Disposition in Court Below

Mr. Gaskin was charged by indictment, dated March 27, 1990, with two counts of First Degree Murder in the death of Robert Sturmfels (premeditated and felony murder), two counts of First Degree Murder in the death of Georgette Sturmfels (premeditated and felony murder), one count of Armed Robbery of the Sturmfels, one count of Burglary of the Sturmfels' home, two counts of Attempted First Degree Murder of Joseph and Mary Rector, one count of Armed Robbery of the Rectors, and one count of Burglary of the Rector's home. He pled not guilty.

One June 15, 1990, the jury found Mr. Gaskin guilty of two counts of First Degree Murder, one count of Attempted First Degree Murder with a Firearm, two counts of Armed Robbery with a Firearm, and two counts of Burglary of a Dwelling with a Firearm. (R. 1285-1294). On June 18, 1990, the jury recommended, by a vote of eight to four, that the court impose the death penalty on each count of First Degree Murder. (R. 1301-1302). On June 19, 1990, the court followed the jury's and recommendations imposed two death sentences Appellant. (R. 1311-1319). Mr. Gaskin was also sentenced to two terms of 30 years incarceration on the Armed Robbery with a Firearm counts and three terms of life imprisonment on the

remaining counts, all to run consecutively. (R. 1303-1310).

On December 5, 1991, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed these convictions, reversed the two felony murder convictions that were duplicative of the premeditated murder convictions, and remanded for proceedings consistent with its decision. See generally Gaskin, 591 So.2d 917 (Fla. 1991). On June 29, 1992, the United States Supreme Court granted certiorari review, vacated the death sentences, and remanded the case to the Florida Supreme Court for reconsideration in light of Espinosa v. Florida, 505 U.S. 1079, 112 S.Ct. 2926, 120 L.Ed.2d 854 (1992). See Gaskin v. Florida, 505 U.S. 1216, 112 S.Ct. 3022, 120 L.Ed.2d 894 (1992). On September 4, 1992, the Supreme Court denied rehearing. Gaskin v. Florida, 505 U.S. 1244, 113 S.Ct. 22, 120 L.Ed.2d 948 (1992).

On March 18, 1993, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed Mr. Gaskin's convictions and sentences and found that the vagueness challenge to the heinous, atrocious or cruel jury instruction (Espinosa error) was not properly preserved for appellate review. Gaskin v. State, 615 So.2d 679 (Fla. 1993). On October 12, 1993, the United States Supreme Court denied certiorari review. Gaskin v. Florida, 510 U.S. 925, 114 S.Ct. 328, 126 L.Ed.2d 274 (1993).

On March 23, 1995, the Appellant filed his first 3.850

motion. On October 12, 1995, the Appellant filed his amended 3.850 motion. On November 7, 1996, a *Huff* hearing was held pursuant to <u>Huff v. State</u>, 622 So.2d 982 (Fla. 1993). On January 17, 1997, the lower court summarily denied Mr. Gaskin's amended 3.850 motion. (PC-R. 1288-1305). On February 4, 1997, Mr. Gaskin filed a motion for rehearing. (PC-R. 1377-1446). On February 10, 1997, the lower court denied rehearing. (PC-R. 1447).

On March 12, 1997, the Appellant filed his notice of appeal. (PC-R. 1448). On July 1, 1999, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed in part, and remanded in part to the lower court to hold an evidentiary hearing on the Appellant's ineffective assistance of counsel claims: (1) counsel failed to investigate and present important mitigating evidence, Claims III an V of his amended 3.850 motion; (2) counsel failed to provide Dr. Harry Krop, the mental health expert, with sufficient background information to properly assess his mental condition, Claims V and XVIII of his amended 3.850 motion; (3) counsel failed to specifically address aggravating and mitigating factors in his closing argument to the jury, Claim III of his amended 3.850 motion; and (4) there is an alleged conflict of interest arising from counsel's status as a deputy sheriff, Claim V of his amended 3.850 motion. Gaskin v. State, 737 So.2d 509, 513-14 &

517 (Fla. 1999).

On April 13 and 14, 2000, the lower court held an evidentiary hearing on these remanded claims. Thereafter, on August 23, 2000, the lower court denied Mr. Gaskin's 3.850 motion in its entirety (PC-R 1500-15). Mr. Gaskin filed his notice of appeal of the denial of his 3.850 motion on September 20, 2000 (PC-R 1569-1570). This appeal follows.

### II. <u>Statement of Facts</u>

## a. Facts Introduced at Sentencing

At the penalty phase of Mr. Gaskin's trial, defense counsel failed to present the testimony of a mental health expert. Rather, the defense's presentation was limited to the testimony of two lay witnesses. (R. 970-981). Further, defense counsel failed to specifically address aggravating and mitigating factors in closing argument to the jury. (R. 993-998).

The jury recommended by a vote of eight to four that the court sentence Mr. Gaskin to death for counts one and two of the indictment. (R.1301-1302). The lower court subsequently sentenced Mr. Gaskin to death on counts one and two. (R.1303-1310).

## b. Facts Introduced at Evidentiary Hearing

To prove that his trial counsel had been ineffective at his capital trial, Mr. Gaskin presented the testimony of his trial

attorney, Mr. Cass; two experts, Dr. Krop and Dr. Toomer; and several lay witnesses.

Dr. Krop was hired by the defense to test Mr. Gaskin for competence to stand trial. Dr. Krop was also asked to evaluate Mr. Gaskin for issues related to mitigation.

In his testimony at the post-conviction hearing, Dr. Krop testified that he found Mr. Gaskin competent to proceed at trial and he also testified that he could not rule out that sanity was an issue at the time of the event because he did not have enough materials to review. (PC-R. 26). Dr. Krop went on to testify that Mr. Gaskin was a very disturbed individual and he felt that he did not have enough data to address the sanity issue or even mitigation. (PC-R.26).

In his testimony, Dr. Krop further stated that he wrote a letter to Mr. Cass requesting additional information and/or requesting the names of individuals that Dr. Krop might interview to verify or more fully develop both the sanity issue and the mitigation issue. (PC-R. 26).

Dr. Krop stated that "Certainly the one thing that was very noteworthy from my initial evaluation of Mr. Gaskin was one, from his MMPI he had a profile which suggested possible schizophrenia, and secondly from his own several disclosures, he described extremely sexually deviant propensities and sexually

deviant behavior patterns starting at a very early age." (PC-R. 28). Dr. Krop stated that "I could not rule out that he was psychotic at that time, meaning at the time of the offense." (PC-R. 29).

Q: You mentioned some of the things you typically do rely on is school records for background.

A: Yes.

Q: Did Mr. Cass ever provide those to you?

A: No.

(PC-R.29).

In explaining the results from the MMPI, Dr. Krop testified that, first of all, he felt that Mr. Gaskin was giving him a fairly accurate presentation of himself. (PC-R. 29). And the scales that were elevated were the 8-9 scales which basically is a pretty pathological profile. (PC-R. 30). Dr. Krop further testified that he asked Mr. Cass for more materials about Mr. Gaskin at the deposition held on June 4, 1990, (PC-R. 34), including school records, but that he did not receive any information until the post-conviction lawyers representing Mr. Gaskin provided to him some time in late 1999 or early in 2000. (PC-R. 33). Additionally, Dr. Krop testified that he did not have the report by Dr. Rotstein. (PC-R. 37). That report,

which was 27 pages long, was given to him by post-conviction lawyers prior to the evidentiary hearing held in April, 2000. (PC-R. 37). From his review of Dr. Rotstein's report, Dr. Krop recalled that Dr. Rotstein had found Mr. Gaskin to be a individual seriously disturbed with sexually propensities and a schizoid type personalty features. 37). Dr. Krop found that "Mr. Gaskin was having more and more difficulty controlling those impulses to the point where obviously he was acting out both violently and sexually deviantly and he was struggling in his head." (PC-R. 39). Dr. Krop testified that he communicated at least twice with Mr. Cass in writing and had concluded that Mr. Gaskin was a seriously disturbed individual. (PC-R. 40). "I indicated that it was my opinion that when I was deposed by Mr. Nelson, I think the nature of the acts themselves sort of speak for themselves as far as how disturbed Mr. Gaskin was." (PC-R. 40).

As a true indicator of the level of ineffectiveness and the failure of Mr. Cass to investigate mitigation evidence, Dr. Krop testified that in his deposition on June 4, 1990, some two weeks before the trial of Mr. Gaskin was to begin, Dr. Krop stated that "I didn't have enough information yet to be able to give an opinion to that degree." (PC-R. 41).

A review by Dr. Krop of Dr. Rotstein's report would have

"supported mine that is his diagnosis and increase my confidence level. I would say, that my diagnosis was correct." (PC-R. 41). Dr. Krop would have testified that he felt that he (Gaskin) had a very severe personality disorder which I consider a very serious emotional disturbance. (PC-R. 42).

He related in the evidentiary hearing that from his memory, Mr. Cass and he spoke for a total of about one half hour before the trial of Mr. Gaskin. (PC-R. 42).

Dr. Krop testified that he suggested to Mr. Cass, "I believe I mentioned that in the deposition that it might be helpful to have a neuropsychological evaluation done of Mr. Gaskin because one of the things I did learn from the family members is that there was a head injury, I believe he fell off a bike. There may have been another one." (PC-R. 45-46).

Based upon information given to Dr. Krop by post-conviction counsel, he did conclude that Mr. Gaskin suffered from a learning disability. (PC-R. 47). He found that Mr. Gaskin had problems concentrating and paying attention and maintaining his interest and stated "I believe to this day, he still has some problems in that area." (PC-R. 47).

Dr. Krop went on to say "I would say that there was some parenting skills that were lacking in the people that were raising him, but, again, I don't have enough information in

terms of his dynamics underlying some of his later bizarre behaviors to suggest that it's a result of any kind of dysfunctional family." (PC-R. 50).

Dr. Krop testified that "the two populations I've probably had the most experience with of a specific type of problem are, number one, first degree murder violent cases, and then sexual offenders." (PC-R. 52).

Dr. Krop stated "What you have in Mr. Gaskin is a combination of the two. His sexual deviancy, particularly at the age that he started engaging in sexually deviant behavior compared to thousands of sex offenders that I've worked with, it's very, very severe." (PC-R. 52).

In response to a question posed about Mr. Gaskin's personality, Dr. Krop testified that

A person doesn't choose behaviors that end up being maladaptive or getting you caught or getting you punished. This is not to say that the behavior doesn't lend itself to reinforcement the at time happening, but I think most of us, if we had choose pretty choose, would behavior that gets reinforced by pretty much mainstream society rather than the criminal So he didn't choose it, but he certainly was responsible or else I would have said that he was basically insane.

(PC-R. 53).

Dr. Krop told Mr. Cass that he could testify to several things. One was that he could say that Mr. Gaskin was one of

the more seriously disturbed individuals he'd ever encountered. (PC-R. 54). "I told him that I could provide a diagnosis to a reasonable degree of psychological certainty of a mixed personality disorder." (PC-R. 54).

The witness called following Dr. Krop was Libby Willis. (PC-R. 127). Ms. Willis identified herself as Mr. Gaskin's eighth grade teacher. (PC-R. 129). Ms. Willis described Mr. Gaskin as quiet, but not a great student. (PC-R. 127).

She also stated that the Appellant "tried real hard." (PC-R. 129). She testified that "I had at that time a lower group, and his effort was there, so . . . but he was not real high functioning." (PC-R. 129). "He was not a behavior problem." (PC-R. 129).

When asked "Did Louis Gaskin's trial attorneys contact you in 1990 for his trial?" She replied "No." (PC-R. 130).

The next witness called at the evidentiary hearing was Dr. Toomer. (PC-R. 141). Dr. Toomer told the court that the post-conviction lawyers for Mr. Gaskin gave him information about Mr. Gaskin before he did his evaluation. (PC-R. 144).

This information included the school records, information provided by the family members and also reports and/or depositions of Dr. Krop and Dr. Rotstein. (PC-R. 144). Dr. Toomer did a clinical evaluation much like Dr. Krop had done

back in 1990 which included a clinical interview, psychological history, and several inventories, the bender gestalt design, the MMPI, and the Carlson Psychological Survey. (PC-R. 144). Dr. Toomer, using all of the data supplied to him, testified that his diagnosis suggested a schizophrenia paranoid type illness for Mr. Gaskin. (PC-R. 145). He went on to say that the totality of the data suggest numerous possible diagnoses. (PC-R. 145). He further concluded that Mr. Gaskin suffered from a borderline personality disorder, as well as some features of a schizotypal personality disorder. (PC-R. 146).

Dr. Toomer also found the presence of indicators of some neurological impairment or what he called neurocognative disorder. (PC-R. 146).

Dr. Toomer described what he characterized as three basic components of a complete psychological evaluation. (PC-R. 147). They would include the clinical interview, which is a face-to-face interview including the process of testing and evaluation (PC-R. 147); the examination of past records, school records and other data relative to the person's functioning (PC-R. 147); and lastly the information to be derived from individuals who have personal knowledge of the particular individual in question during his/her developmental years. (PC-R. 147).

Dr. Toomer was able to conclude that based upon a pervasive

and long-term pattern of instability in terms of mood, effect and behavior, Mr. Gaskin had been impacted adversely in terms of his ability to function adequately in terms of thought and behavior. (PC-R. 148).

These environmental issues created, in the evaluation done by Dr. Toomer, impairment impacts which had an effect on all aspects of Mr. Gaskin's functioning. (PC-R. 148). What Dr. Toomer found in Mr. Gaskin is a person who was moving along, what he described, as a continuum of psychopathology. (PC-R. 149). Dr. Toomer found that Mr. Gaskin suffered from mental maladies ranging from schizotypal personality disorder all the way to schizophrenia. (PC-R. 149). These again are somewhat consistent with the findings of Dr. Krop and Dr. Rotstein, back in 1990. (PC-R. 37-38).

Dr. Toomer further opined that appearance is hardly an adequate way of making a determination in terms of functioning. (PC-R. 151). A person can at times appear very normal but that does not mean that that same person cannot have very severe mental health problems. (PC-R. 151). That was and is the situation with Louis Gaskin. (PC-R. 151). Dr. Toomer found that Mr. Gaskin was "An individual whose overall development and behavior represents deficits and impulse control diffidence in tolerance for anxiety, a lack of supplementary capacity and an

inability to control impulse delayed gratification." (PC-R. 152/153). Dr. Toomer found that Mr. Gaskin fit into the statutory mental health mitigator that he was substantially impaired. (PC-R. 153). Dr. Toomer found this particular diagnosis or definition of a mental health mitigator was not only applicable at the time of the offense but had been applicable to Mr. Gaskin for a good part of his life. (PC-R. 154).

A review of Mr. Gaskin's school records show that as early as 1977 Mr. Gaskin was defined as an underachiever. (PC-R. 155). Mr. Gaskin was designated as a SLD. Additionally, even in SLD classes, Dr. Toomer found that Mr. Gaskin daydreamed, had poor attention span and the visual and auditory processing deficits remained. (PC-R. 155). Dr. Toomer testified at the evidentiary hearing that school records were particularly important as supportive data that goes on in the evaluation process. (PC-R. 156).

Dr. Toomer again stated that "There has to be a pattern of predictability, saneness, security and safety during the early years. If that's not there, we can almost guarantee that we're going to have a dysfunctional individual." (PC-R. 157).

An individual such as Mr. Gaskin because of the lack of predictability that they have experienced because of the turmoil they are incapable of handling because of it occurring at such a young age, what they tend to do is develop a different aurora or personality in order to cope with or address the trauma that they have experienced and the significant and heightened emotionality that they are unable to deal with, the feelings that are engendered by that particular situation.

(PC-R. 158).

In completing his testimony, Dr. Toomer testified that had he been contacted in 1990 and, most importantly, supplied with the additional corroborative information that he was supplied with prior to the evidentiary hearing in 1999/2000, he could have and would have evaluated Mr. Gaskin and presented the data that he presented in the hearing to the jury. (PC-R. 160).

Dr. Hafner was called and he identified himself as the head of the exceptional education program in Flagler County. (PC-R. 236). Dr. Hafner testified about the different types of special education available in Flagler County and the fact that Mr. Gaskin was placed in the exceptional children's program. (PC-R. 237). Dr. Hafner explained that the criteria for getting into the exceptional children's program was that a person have an IQ of over 70 and that there be a discrepancy between his IQ and his achievement scores of 15 points or more. (PC-R. 237).

Dr. Hafner told the court that he had reviewed Louis Gaskin's school records and was able to determine that in the

third grade Mr. Gaskin was placed in a specific learning disabilities program. (PC-R. 238). A continued review of Mr. Gaskin's school records showed that he was in this program until he left school. (PC-R. 239). Dr. Hafner explained the term administrative placement, which meant that Mr. Gaskin was passed along and at some point actually got where it appears that he was in high school before he quit school altogether. Administrative placement was a discretionary decision made by the principal of the school because of persons growing bigger physically and being much older than the other children, it was sometimes decided, as it was in Mr. Gaskin's situation, to pass him along. (PC-R. 239). Dr. Hafner also stated that "He consistently had very, very poor scores in reading and There were even comments about that since language arts. kindergarten." (PC-R. 240). Mr. Gaskin was retained or held back in the third grade and in the fifth grade. (PC-R. 240). Mr. Hafner was not contacted by trial attorneys, and he would have testified had he been contacted. (PC-R. 241).

Andrew Williams was called by post-conviction counsel. He identified himself as the brother of Louis Gaskin and first met Louis when Mr. Williams was 13 years old. (PC-R. 252). Mr. Williams had a common experience with Louis Gaskin in that they both lived with Mr. Gaskin's great grandparents for a period of

time. (PC-R. 253). Mr. Williams described Louis' efforts to assist his great grandparents in terms of giving them money to help them pay bills. (PC-R. 253). The question was also asked of Mr. Williams about whether or not the great grandparents assisted Mr. Williams or Louis in their schoolwork and the answer was "No, I don't think so." (PC-R. 253). Mr. Williams proceeded to explain that his great grandparents could not read and further explained that Louis never lived with his mother although at that time Mr. Gaskin knew who his mother was and that he had a brother and sister. (PC-R. 253). Mr. Williams was never contacted by the trial attorney in this case in 1990 and therefore, again, his testimony was not available to the trial attorney to present to the jury. (PC-R. 254).

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