IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LOUIS B. GASKIN,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. SC00-2025

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

SCOTT A. BROWNE

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0802743 Westwood Center 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607-2366 (813) 801-0600 (813) 356-1292 (Fax)

COUNSEL FOR STATE OF FLORIDA

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

ISSUE--The trial court's ruling denying post-conviction relief is supported by the record and should be affirmed on appeal. **A)** Counsel retained two mental health experts to examine the appellant. Defense counsel made a strategic decision not to present their testimony as presentation of such testimony would reveal a panoply of additional misconduct, including the fact appellant murdered a co-worker, and attempted to murder another woman during a robbery. Defense counsel presented the testimony of two family members who were very familiar with appellant's upbringing as a child and family life. Collateral counsel has not been able to uncover any significant mitigation that might have altered the jury recommendation in this case given the numerous, compelling aggravators present in this double homicide case.

B) Trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to provide Dr. Krop with background materials. Dr. Krop, the expert who spent the most time with appellant, had the same diagnosis at the time of trial as he did at the evidentiary hearing. The one and only alteration in his opinion based upon the school records subsequently obtained by collateral counsel was the fact that appellant had a learning disability.

C) Appellant has established neither a deficiency in defense

counsel's closing argument nor resulting prejudice.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S CLAIM THAT HIS COUNSEL RENDERED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE DURING THE SENTENCING PHASE OF HIS TRIAL? (STATED BY APPELLEE).

Appellant asserts that his trial counsel was ineffective in failing to present expert testimony on his mental state during the penalty phase of his trial. Further, appellant asserts that additional mitigation witnesses were available and should have been presented. The trial court properly denied the allegations of ineffective assistance after a full and fair hearing below.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT ON APPLICABLE LEGAL STANDARDS

A) <u>Standard Of Review</u>

This Court summarized the appropriate standard of review in <u>State v. Reichman</u>, 775 So. 2d 342 (Fla. 2000):

Ineffective assistance of counsel claims present a mixed question of law and fact subject to plenary review based on the <u>Strickland</u> test. <u>See Rose v.</u> <u>State</u>, 675 So.2d 567, 571 (Fla. 1996). This requires an independent review of the trial court's legal conclusions, while giving deference to the trial court's factual findings.

Deference to the circuit judge recognizes the superior position of the trier of fact who has the responsibility of weighing the evidence and determining matters of credibility. <u>Brown v.</u> <u>State</u>, 352 So. 2d 60, 61 (Fla. 4th DCA 1977). And, an appellate court will not "substitute its judgment for that of the trial court on questions of fact, likewise of the credibility of witnesses as well as the weight to be given to the evidence by the trial court." <u>Demps v. State</u>, 462 So. 2d 1074, 1075 (Fla. 1984) (citing <u>Goldfarb v. Robertson</u>, 82 So. 2d 504, 506 (Fla. 1955)).

B) <u>Applicable Legal Standards For Evaluating Ineffective</u> <u>Assistance Of Counsel Claims</u>

Of course, the proper test for attorney performance is that of reasonably effective assistance. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 688 (1984). The two-prong test for ineffective assistance of counsel established in <u>Strickland</u> requires a defendant to show deficient performance by counsel, and that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. In any ineffectiveness case, judicial scrutiny of an attorney's performance must be highly deferential and there is a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance. Strickland, 466 U.S. at A fair assessment of attorney performance requires every 694. effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight. Id. at 696. "The Supreme Court has recognized that because representation is an art and not a science, [e]ven the best criminal defense attorneys would not defend a particular client

in the same way." <u>Waters v. Thomas</u>, 46 F.3d 1506 (11th Cir.)(en banc), <u>cert. denied</u>, 116 S.Ct. 490 (1995)(citing <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 689).

The prejudice prong is not established merely by a showing that the outcome of the proceeding might have been different had counsel's performance been better. Rather, prejudice is established only with a showing that the result of the proceeding was fundamentally unfair or unreliable. Lockhart v. <u>Fretwell</u>, 113 S.Ct. 838 (1993). The Defendant bears the full responsibility of affirmatively proving prejudice because "[t]he government is not responsible for, and hence not able to prevent, attorney errors that will result in reversal of a conviction or sentence." <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 693. A claim of ineffective assistance fails if either prong is not proven. <u>Kennedy v. State</u>, 547 So. 2d 912 (Fla. 1989).

With these principles in mind, the State submits the trial court properly denied appellant's claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel.

ANALYSIS OF APPELLANT'S CLAIMS

A. <u>Appellant's Counsel Was Not Ineffective For Failing To</u> <u>Present Mental Health Testimony And Additional Lay</u> <u>Mitigation Witness Testimony</u>

1) The Decision Not To Present Expert Mental Health Testimony

After hearing the evidence presented by the defense below, the trial court denied this claim as it related to the failure to present mental health mitigation, stating, in part:

... In the instant case, counsel did procure two mental experts to evaluate the health Defendant for competency and mitigation, Dr. Robert Davis and Dr. Harry Krop, who were aware of most of these background facts propounded by the Defendant. See State's Exhibit 7 (Dr. Davis's report); State's Exhibits -12 (Dr. Krop's notes and letters); Appendix B at 14-15 (information known by Drs. Krop and Rotstein); see also Transcripts, April 14, 2000, p. 344; Transcripts, April 13, 20000, pp. 143; 163; 195-203; 223-24 (information known by Dr. Toomer); State's Exhibit 1 at index #5 (Dr. Rotstein's report). Dr. Davis found the Defendant competent to stand trial, the Defendant did not need any type of hospitalization or any type of special psychiatric or psychological care, and that the Defendant does not labor under any particular disease of the mind so that he doesn't know what he is doing. See State's Exhibit 7, pp. 2-3. Also, at the evidentiary hearing, Dr. Krop testified that his diagnosis of the Defendant would be the same as it was originally on June 8, 1990, with the addition of the opinion that the Defendant suffers from a learning disability, attention deficit disorder, based on the school records.[]. See Transcripts, April 13, 2000, pp. 34; 41-42; 55; 78; 80-81. Dr. Krop's diagnosis of the Defendant is mixed personality disorder with schizoid and anitsocial features (terminology in 1990) or personality disorder not otherwise specified, with schizoid, schizotypal, and antisocial features (modern terminology); he did not find anv statutorv mitigators. Id. at 41-42. Dr. Krop also testified, at the evidentiary hearing, that he spoke with counsel regarding his diagnosis and proposed testimony for the penalty phase, and that Dr. Krop concluded that he would not be much help due to the fact that Dr. Krop would also have to testify about the Defendant's past criminal conduct, sexual deviancy, and lack of Id. at 43-44; 54-55; 66-69; 77; 80-81; 115remorse. 18; 124-25; <u>see also</u> State's Exhibit 8 (June 22, 1990 letter). Further, counsel testified, at the

evidentiary hearing, that because the Defendant's background contained the many negatives, and the fact that Dr. Krop told him that his proposed testimony would hurt rather than help and include discussion of Dr. Davis' report and diagnosis, it was counsel's strategy not to present this mitigation to the jury and not to present Dr. Krop's report and diagnosis to the judge. See Transcripts, April 14, 20000, pp. 359, 369; 392-402' 410; 417-24; 434-37. In cases where counsel did conduct a reasonable investigation of mental health mitigation prior to trial and then made a strategic decision not to present this information, the Florida Supreme Court has affirmed the trial court's findings that counsel's performance was not Asay, 2000 WL at 9; see also Rutherford, deficient. 727 So.2d at 223; Jones v. State, 732 So.2d 313, 317 9la. 1999); Rose v. State, 617 So.2d 291, 293-94 (Fla. This Court finds that Counsel was not 1993). deficient because counsel did conduct a reasonable investigation of mental health mitigation prior to trial and made reasonable, strategic decision not to present this information to the jury and not to present Dr. Krop's findings to the judge. Therefore, this claim is also legally insufficient.

(PCR-11, 1506-07).

Appellant attempts to take pieces from the mental health evaluations that might prove useful, but ignores the vast, indeed, overwhelming negatives associated with presentation of that testimony. Trial counsel, unlike post-conviction counsel, does not operate in a vacuum. Whereas post-conviction counsel prefer to throw everything possible into the mix in the hopes of finding some aspect of information critical enough to hit the target of ineffective assistance, a trial attorney must consider the totality of potential mitigation, including the impact of evidence upon a jury and the potential rebuttal that might be offered.⁷ And, in this case, it is fortunate that the strategic nature of the decision not to offer mental health testimony is depicted in the record.

At the time of trial Cass discussed with appellant the possibility of presenting Dr. Rotstein and his report as mitigation. (R. 967-970). Cass explained to the appellant that presenting Rotstein's report would provide the mitigating factor of substantial impairment, however:

If I put Rotstein up there, Tanner (prosecutor) can and will cross-examine Dr. Rotstein on the whole examination and there are some matters in there, like sexual deviants, that sort of thing and also information of prior crimes that he can bring out. We have been able to keep those out so far, but I am kind of hung on the horns of a dilemma. On one hand I have a mitigating factor that I can bring on your behalf, but I am afraid, I know what he can elicit from the doctor on cross-examination, not about that fact, but about the whole interview as to what you told Dr. Rotstein can come out...

The record reflects that appellant agreed with Cass's suggestion that they not call Dr. Rotstein during the penalty phase. (PCR-8, 968-69).

Dr. Krop also advised Cass at the time of trial that his

⁷Instead of gaining the two votes needed for a life recommendation; in this case, presentation of this evidence would in all likelihood, result in losing the four votes defense counsel managed to receive for his client. Indeed, given the horrible nature of the multiple murders and attempted murders, four victims in all, four votes for life represented a significant achievement.

testimony would do more harm than good. (PCR-3, 349-50; PCR-5, 658-59, 671, 673). In fact, this was communicated to Cass in a letter, wherein Dr. Krop, stated in part: "In view of Mr. Gaskins' lack of remorse and self-continued homicidal ideation, it is likely my testimony would not be particularly helpful." (PCR-3, 349-50). Cass testified at the evidentiary hearing that he did not want the Flagler County jury to hear any of appellant's damaging criminal history that would be revealed through the mental health experts. (PCR-5, 662-63).

As a strategic decision, counsel's performance is virtually unassailable in post-conviction litigation. <u>See Maharaj v.</u> <u>State</u>, 778 So.2d 944, 959 (Fla. 2000) (where this court "recognized that counsel cannot be ineffective for strategic decisions made during a trial.") (citing <u>Medina v. State</u>, 573 So. 2d 293, 297 (Fla. 1990)); <u>United States v. Ortiz Oliveras</u>, 717 F.2d 1, 3 (1st Cir. 1983) ("[T]actical decisions, whether wise or unwise, successful or unsuccessful, cannot ordinarily form the basis of a claim of ineffective assistance."). Defense counsel clearly recognized the possibility of presenting both Dr. Krop and Dr. Rotstein in mitigation, but rejected this course of action as it would be more damaging than beneficial. Since the alternative course of action was considered and rejected, counsel cannot be considered ineffective. <u>Valle v. State</u>, 26

Fla.L.Weekly S46 (Fla. 2001) ("This Court has held that defense counsel's strategic choices do not constitute deficient conduct if alternative courses of action have been considered and rejected.") (citing <u>Shere v. State</u>, 742 So. 2d 215, 220 (Fla. 1999)).

Within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance, there is room for different strategies, no one of which is "correct" to the exclusion of all others. <u>Felker v. Thomas</u>, 52 F.3d 907 (11th Cir. 1995). Even with the benefit of hindsight in this case, it is readily apparent that counsel's decision not to present mental health testimony to the jury was a wise one. Appellant expressed a lack of remorse for his murderous conduct, confessed to having murdered a co-worker for money, and attempted to murder another woman⁸, also for money. When he gunned down his co-worker, appellant claimed Miller begged for his life, saying, "'don't shoot me, don't kill me.'" (PCR-8, When asked if his cries for mercy bothered him, 1049). appellant told Dr. Rotstein: "'It didn't bother me, his begging for mercy didn't bother me.'" (PCR-8, 1049).

⁸Appellant described for Dr. Rotstein a robbery at the Sun Bank where he shot a woman and made off with \$900. Appellant said "`I shot her in the shoulder. She was in pain and screaming.'" (PCR-8, 1043). When asked if the sight and sound of the woman in agony bothered him, appellant responded: "`It did not bother me.'" (PCR-8, 1043).

In addition to a prior murder and attempted murder, a panoply of sexual misconduct might have been revealed. As noted in Dr. Rotstein's report: "It is clear that Mr. Gaskins has engaged in multiple deviant sexual behavior such as pedophilia with both males and females, exhibitionism, incest, bestiality, and violence during the sexual act." (PCR-8, 1050). Also, appellant's prior instances of animal torture would certainly be revealed as a factor which suggests that he qualifies for an antisocial personality disorder diagnosis. Significantly, Dr. Krop indicated that appellant was continuing to have homicidal thoughts. See Darden v. Wainwright, 477 U.S. 168, 187-161, 91 L.Ed.2d 144, 160-161 (1986) (where counsel's choice not to present any mitigating evidence in the penalty phase and had the defendant make a simple plea for mercy was within the realm of sound strategy where available mitigation evidence might be countered by damaging information concerning the defendant's background).

The mental health experts would also reveal damaging information about the instant offenses, including the revelation that appellant masturbated before murdering the Sturmfels, and that he thought about sexually assaulting Mrs. Sturmfel. (PCR-8, 1045-46). Indeed, appellant revealed that he placed his fingers inside Mrs. Sturmfel's vagina after she was

This devastating information was dead. (PCR-8, 1046). successfully kept from the jury during the penalty phase by the tactical decision of Mr. Cass. See Bonin v. Calderon, 59 F.3d 815, 834 (9th Cir. 1995) (decision not to offer expert testimony as to mental condition at trial was reasonable tactical decision where counsel "feared that the presentation of psychiatric testimony would 'open the door' to allow the prosecution to parade the horrible details of each of the murders before the jury under the guise of asking the psychiatrist or other expert whether Bonin's acts conform to the asserted diagnosis.") (emphasis added). Even now, it is clear that the damaging information which was available through the mental health experts, far outweighs the benefit of any mitigation. See Medina v. State, 573 So. 2d 293, 298 (Fla. 1990) (finding no ineffectiveness in not presenting witnesses when they would have opened the door for the State to explore defendant's violent tendencies). Dr. Krop admitted that if he testified during the penalty phase he would reveal that "this multi-killer had been involved in a number of prior episodes of killing and attempting to kill people and had no remorse for those."⁹ (PCR-3, 346).

⁹Also, Dr. Krop agreed that he "would have had to tell the jury that years before the incident in this case, Mr. Gaskins was stalking people, murdering them for their money, or attempting to murder them for their money[.]" (PCR-3, 338).

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